### **COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT**

### Between

# GREAT SANDHILLS RAILWAY LTD. ("GSR") And

# TEAMSTERS CANADA RAIL CONFERENCE ("TCRC")

April 15, 2009

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

| Article  | Page Number |
|--|-------------|
| Preamble:  | 1           |
| Article 1: Definitions                           | 1           |
| Article 2: Recognition                           |             |
| Article 3: Management Rights                     | 2           |
| Article 4: Term of Agreement                     | 2           |
| Article 5: No Strikes or Lock-Outs               | 3           |
| Article 6: Seniority                             |             |
| Article 7: Grievance and Arbitration Procedure   |             |
| Article 8: Leaves of Absence                     |             |
| Article 9: Vacation                              |             |
| Article 10: General Holidays                     |             |
| Article 11: Bereavement Leave                    | 10          |
| Article 12: Jury Duty and Attending Court        | 11          |
| Article 13: Discipline Procedures                | 12          |
| Article 14: Deduction of Dues                    | 13          |
| Article 15: Posting                              | 13          |
| Article 16: Pay Day                              |             |
| Article 17: Overtime                             | 14          |
| Article 18: Meals, Expense and Reimbursements    | 15          |
| Article 19: Employee Health and Physical Fitness | 15          |
| Article 20: Work Scheduling and Wages            | 15          |
| Article 21: Group Health and Other Benefit Plans | 17          |
| Article 22: Reporting Pay and Calling Procedure  |             |
| Article 23: Safety and Health                    | 17          |
| Article 24: Material Changes                     | 18          |
| Article 25: Crew Consist                         | 18          |
| Article 26: Rest                                 | 18          |
| Article 27: Training                             | 19          |
| Appendix A – Rates of Pay                        | 21          |

# COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT PREAMBLE

The following Collective Agreement ("Agreement") between the Great Sandhills Railway Ltd. Company ("GSR") and the Teamsters Canada Rail Conference ("TCRC")(the labor organizations may, from time to time, be referred to as the "Union") recognizes the unique principles and conditions existing within the short line railroad industry that are not applicable to the major railroads.

GSR and the Union and the employees further recognize that they have a common interest in the railroad industry. Therefore, a working system of harmonious relationships is necessary to maintain rapport among these parties and with customers, the public, and other stakeholders. All concerned will benefit by continued peaceful and harmonious relationships, and any differences must be settled through rational common sense methods. The basis for the relationship between GSR and the Union is one of cooperation for the benefit of all stakeholders in this Agreement as well as the customers and other stakeholders in the business of GSR.

In order to successfully promote these concepts, the parties have agreed to recognize and make provisions for an orderly system of collective bargaining relations between GSR and the Union, the prompt and orderly resolution of grievances, the efficient operation of GSR's business without interruptions or interference with work, the provision of fair salaries, hours, and working conditions for the employees, and the provision of the highest quality service to GSR's customers in the most efficient manner possible. GSR recognizes that the Union is the sole and exclusive bargaining agents for all employees covered under the bargaining certificates issued to the Union by the Canada Industrial Relations Board.

# ARTICLE 1 DEFINITIONS

- 1.1 The term "Unions or Union" shall mean the duly elected or appointed officers of the TCRC.
- 1.2 The term "representative of the employee" or "employee's representative" shall mean the duly accredited representative designated by the Union.
- 1.3 The term "GSR" shall mean the Great Sandhills Railway Ltd.
- 1.4 The term "emergency" shall include but not be limited to the following: accident to machinery, equipment, plant or persons, urgent and essential work to be done to machinery, equipment or plant; or other unforeseen or unpreventable circumstances.
- 1.5 The term "Vacancy Relief Personnel" shall mean a person used by GSR to fill a temporary vacancy.

1.6 In this Agreement, words importing the singular shall include the plural and vice versa where the context requires. The use of such words as "he", "his", and "him" as they may appear in the Agreement are not intended to restrict the application of the Agreement or a particular rule to a particular gender, but are used solely for the purpose of grammatical convenience and clarity. Accordingly, words importing the masculine gender shall include the feminine gender where the context requires.

### ARTICLE 2 RECOGNITION

GSR recognizes the TCRC as the bargaining agent for those employees covered under their bargaining certificate, which includes the following job classifications: (a) Locomotive Engineer (b) Conductor

### ARTICLE 3 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

- 3.1 It is recognized that the management of the business is vested in GSR, whose discretion and judgment shall control as to the operations of the company, the selection and retention of employees, the work and duties to which employees are assigned, and the right to hire, transfer, promote, demote, suspend and discharge for cause, so long as the rights granted in this Article are not in violation of the provisions of this Agreement or any applicable federal or provincial laws.
- 3.2 GSR management shall be permitted to perform work normally performed by an employee covered in this agreement in the event that no such employee is available to perform such work, provided that all possible avenues to contact and utilize a covered employee have been exhausted, or in the event of work of an urgent or emergency nature.
- 3.3 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, nothing shall preclude or limit the type of work that an employee may be asked to perform.

### ARTICLE 4 TERM OF AGREEMENT

- 4.1 This Agreement shall become effective on April 15, 2009, and shall continue in effect until December 31, 2013. Thereafter, this Agreement shall continue in effect from year to year unless either party gives notice to the other of its' desire to revise or supersede this Agreement such notice to be given not less than one hundred twenty (120) days prior to the date upon which this Agreement would otherwise expire or terminate.
- 4.2 The provisions of Article 4.1 shall not be construed so as to constrain the parties to this Agreement from making any changes to or from adding to the scope or application of or from extending the provisions of this Agreement during the term of this Agreement that are mutually acceptable.

4.3 Rules necessary to meet local conditions may be negotiated and made effective, subject in each case to the approval of the General Manager of GSR and of the Union, and subject further to either party having the right to cancel the rule on thirty (30) day's written notice.

### ARTICLE 5 NO STRIKES OR LOCK OUTS

GSR shall not lock out any employee covered by this Agreement and the Union shall not authorize or take part in any work stoppage, slowdown, strike or picketing of GSR during the life of this Agreement. GSR reserves the right to discipline, including the right to terminate the employment of, any employees taking part in any violation of this provision of the Agreement.

### ARTICLE 6 SENIORITY

- 6.1 Service shall mean an employee's length of continuous service with GSR. An employee shall maintain and accumulate seniority while he is in the full-time employ of GSR from the first day of his employment with GSR. Unless otherwise specifically expressed, seniority shall be applied on a classification basis.
- 6.2 The seniority rights of each employee shall start from the date he begins his first tour of duty as an employee of GSR. Where two or more employees begin work on the same day, they shall be ranked for seniority purposes in the order of their service date and if that is the same, the time their employment application is time stamped by GSR.
- 6.3 A newly hired employee shall serve a probationary period of ninety (90) calendar days. During a newly hired employee's probationary period, GSR may terminate the employment relationship at any time and for any non-discriminatory cause.
- 6.4 (a) Employees shall, unless otherwise provided in this Agreement or by agreement between GSR and the Unions, hold and accumulate seniority in each classification as defined in Article 2.
- (b) GSR shall maintain a separate seniority list showing the established seniority date of each employee and supply a copy to the Union representatives. Once qualified, employees will be placed on the Locomotive Engineer seniority list in the same order as they appear on the Conductor seniority list.
- (c) In filling a vacancy GSR shall fill the vacancy in accordance with Article 15.2. If GSR is unable to fill the vacancy from the regular seniority list, it will offer the vacancy to the senior most qualified person on the Vacancy Relief Personnel seniority list provided for in Section 6.10 below.
- (d) The employee making application for the advertised vacancy must be able to meet the qualifications of the job or reasonably be expected to qualify for the position claimed,

and pass any required examinations for the job.

An advertisement for a job vacancy will include a job description and the qualifications for the job. In accordance with bulletins advertising a training opportunity for any of the respective crafts, the senior applicant will be awarded the training opportunity. If a position is not filled from within the company as provided in this Article 6.4, GSR may externally advertise the position.

- (e) If an employee is unable to meet the required qualification to perform the job or pass any required examination for the job, after being given a reasonable period of time to qualify as defined in the training program, he will be returned to his former position.
- (f) If an employee accepts the position and then refuses to fulfill the requirements of qualifying for the position or withdraws his acceptance prior to meeting said qualifications, shall be returned to his former position and be restricted from making application for the same position for one year.
- (g) An employee who fails in his first attempt to the position or classification for which he took training will be given a second opportunity within a reasonable period of time, not to exceed one year, in which to qualify or meet the required qualifications of the position for which training was provided or pass any required examination for the job.
- (h) Any employee who twice fails to meet the required qualifications or pass the required examinations for the job or if the employee accepts the position and then refuses to fulfill the requirements of qualifying for the position or withdraws his acceptance prior to meeting said qualifications, will only be considered for further training at his own expense and his own time. Such employee requesting further training must apply in writing to his supervisor requesting the opportunity. If accepted for subsequent training after failing twice, the employee's seniority in the new position shall begin accruing on the date of supervisor approval for said training.
- 6.5 In cases of layoff, junior employees shall be demoted or furloughed in reverse order of seniority, respecting their job qualifications as defined in Article 2. GSR shall make an effort to provide employees with as much notice as possible of lay-off but in any event, the respective Union and the affected employee(s) shall be advised at least ten (10) working days in advance of the date the layoff shall commence or pay in lieu of notice. Employees will be recalled to service in seniority order as required, within their classification, and will retain their original seniority date and standing provided they report for duty within fourteen (14) days from the date they receive notice of recall. Seniority shall accrue during periods of vacation, leave of absence, and layoff.
- 6.6 Seniority shall not be forfeited except in cases of death, retirement, resignation from GSR, discharge, violation of Article 8.2 or failure to accept or respond to recall as provided in Article 6.9. An employee who is discharged and subsequently reinstated may, by virtue of a mutual agreement between the Union and GSR or as a result of an arbitrator's decision be

placed on the seniority list consistent with his seniority date prior to the discharge.

- 6.7 GSR shall provide and maintain separate classification seniority rosters for its employees. The rosters shall be published once a year on January 1 and GSR shall provide a copy of the rosters to the Union. The rosters shall be held open for a period of thirty (30) days to allow an employee, through his Union, the opportunity to appeal his position on the roster(s) in writing to GSR. For employees on leave of absence, annual vacation, lay-off or absent due to illness or injury, the thirty (30) days shall begin on the date the employee returns to active service. Once the roster is unchallenged for thirty (30) days, it may not be changed thereafter except by mutual agreement between the Union and GSR except in cases where the employee's name is removed or slotted incorrectly for other than the above excepted reasons as set forth in Article 6.6.
- 6.8 GSR shall recall employees by written notice sent to the employee by registered mail at his last known address or hand delivered to him. It shall be the responsibility of the employee to provide GSR his current address in writing. An employee must both notify GSR of his intent to return to work within ten (10) days of receiving the written notice and present himself for work within fourteen (14) days of receipt of the written notice.
- 6.9 Subject to the availability of junior employees, an employee may waive recall without the loss of seniority, for vacancies with an expected duration of less than ninety (90) calendar days.
- 6.10 (a) When a Vacancy Relief Personnel employee completes sixty (60) tours of duty. GSR shall place a Vacancy Relief Personnel employee on the Vacancy Relief Personnel seniority list. GSR will place the Vacancy Relief Personnel employees on this list in the order of their completion date of the sixty (60) tours of duty.
- (b) Thereafter, when a person is required for vacancy relief, GSR shall call the person in seniority order with the most senior qualified person called first.
- (c) Should the senior-most qualified employee not respond to or is unavailable for the call GSR will call the next senior qualified employee.
- (d) In the event the senior-most person is entitled to be called for both the conductor and the locomotive engineer positions, GSR will give that person the choice of which position he wishes to work unless the next most senior available person is not qualified to perform the position not chosen. In such case, GSR shall assign the senior-most person to the position for which the next senior-most person is not qualified but will pay him at the higher rated position.
- (e) Vacancy Relief Personnel will not be placed on the seniority list and shall not be considered employees for purposes of this Collective Agreement. While recognizing the Vacancy Relief Personnel are not employees for the purpose of this agreement, it is understood between the parties that they shall be compensated no less for time worked than employees covered by this agreement. They will also pay full union dues.

(f) Vacancy Relief Personnel who are awarded a permanent position shall be placed on the seniority lists based on their first tour of duty and will not be subject to the probationary requirements of Article 6.3

### ARTICLE 7 GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURE

#### 7.1 Wage claim not allowed

A wage claim not allowed will be promptly returned and the employee advised the reason therefore. If not returned to the employee within 30 calendar days the claim will be paid.

When a portion of a claim is not allowed the employee will be promptly notified and the reason given, the undisputed portion to be paid on the current payroll.

7.2 Grievance concerning wage claims or alleged violations of the collective agreement. A grievance concerning the meaning or alleged violation of any one or more of the provisions of this Collective Agreement shall be processed in the following manner:

#### Step 1 - Presentation of Grievance to the Designated Supervisor

Within 60 calendar days from the date of the cause of grievance the employee may present the grievance in writing to the designated Company Officer who will give a decision in writing as soon as possible but in any case within 60 calendar days of date of the appeal, or this Step may be bypassed by forwarding the grievance to the Local Chairman who may initiate the grievance at Step 2.

#### Step 2 - Appeal to the Designated Company Officer

If a grievance has been handled at Step 1, within 60 calendar days from the date decision was rendered under Step 1 the Local Chairman may appeal the decision in writing to the designated Company Officer.

If Step 1 has been bypassed then, within 60 calendar days of the date of the cause of grievance, the Local Chairman may present the grievance in writing to the designated Company Officer who will give a decision in writing as soon as possible but in any case within 60 calendar days of date of the appeal.

The appeal shall include a written statement of the grievance along with an identification of the specific provision or provisions of the Collective Agreement, which are alleged to have been misinterpreted or violated.

#### Step 3 - Appeal to General Manager

Within 60 calendar days from the date decision was rendered under Step 2, the General Chairman may appeal the decision in writing to the General Manager, whose decision will be rendered in writing within 60 calendar days of the date of appeal.

The decision of the General Manager shall be final and binding unless within 60 calendar days from the date of his decision proceedings are instituted to submit the grievance to the Canadian Railway Office of Arbitration and Dispute Resolution for final and binding settlement without stoppage of work,

### 7.3 Appeal against discipline imposed

An appeal against discipline imposed shall be processed in the following manner:

#### Step 1 - Appeal to the Designated Company Officer

Within 60 calendar days from the date the employee is notified of discipline assessed the employee and/or Local Chairman may appeal the discipline in writing to the designated Company Officer.

The appeal shall include a written statement of the employee's and/or the Union's contention as to why the discipline should be reduced or removed. A decision will be rendered in writing within 60 calendar days of the date of the appeal.

- Step 2 Appeal to General ManagerWithin 60 calendar days from the date decision was rendered under Step 1, the General Chairman may appeal the decision in writing to the General Manager, whose decision will be rendered in writing within 60 calendar days of the date of the appeal. The decision of the General Manager shall be final and binding unless within 60 calendar days from the date of his decision proceedings are instituted to submit the grievance to the Canadian Railway Office of Arbitration and Dispute Resolution for final and binding settlement without stoppage of work, except that an appeal against the dismissal of an employee which does not involve a claim for payment for time lost, may be submitted to the Canadian Railway Office of Arbitration and Dispute Resolution at any time within 2 years from the date of dismissal.
- 7.4 Any grievance not progressed by the Union within the prescribed time limits shall be considered invalid and shall not be subject to further appeal. Where a decision on a grievance concerning the meaning or alleged violation of any one or more of the provisions of the Collective Agreement and in which a wage claim is involved, is not rendered by the appropriate officer of the Company within the prescribed time limits, the claim shall be allowed as presented but this shall not be considered as a precedent or waiver of the contention of the Company as to similar claims. Where a decision on an appeal against discipline imposed is not rendered by the appropriate officer of the Company within the prescribed time limits, the grievance may be progressed to the next step of the grievance procedure.

7.5 The time limits specified in this Article may be extended by mutual agreement.

### ARTICLE 8 LEAVES OF ABSENCE

- 8.1 An employee may be granted a leave of absence without pay of up to ninety (90) days upon approval and at the discretion of GSR. The period of leave may be extended at the discretion of GSR. An employee granted such a leave shall sign a copy of a written authorization of leave.
- 8.2 An employee on leave of absence from GSR may not work for another company unless the Union and GSR mutually agree to allow the employee to work for another company. Any employee who engages in such other employment without the consent of the Union and GSR shall be considered terminated.
- 8.3 GSR shall grant a leave of absence without pay to any employee elected or appointed to a Union office or as a General or Local Chairman or as a delegate to any Union activity for the term of the office or until completing the activity, unless the activity unduly interferes with the operations of GSR

### ARTICLE 9 VACATION

9.1 Employees who qualify will receive paid vacation time on the following schedule according to their GSR service:

After one (1) year of service Three (3) weeks at six percent (6%) of the

previous year's earnings

After four (4) years of service four (4) weeks at eight percent (8%) of the

previous year's earnings

After fifteen (15) years of service five (5) weeks at ten percent (10%) of the

previous year's earnings

GSR shall pay the Vacancy Relief Personnel employees an additional four percent (6%) of their earnings in lieu of vacation pay on each paycheck.

The above schedule shall apply to all otherwise qualified employees except and unless that employee has been unable to work in the previous year for a period of one (1) month or more due solely to illness or injury, in which case that employee shall receive paid vacation time at their regular rate of wages for their regularly scheduled hours, or at the rate as calculated above, whichever is greater.

Vacation time shall not be accumulated from one year to the next. GSR, in its discretion, may

allow an employee to carry over his vacation to the next year in circumstances where, due to illness or injury, the employee has not been reasonably able to take his vacation in the year it became available. There will be no pay for vacation instead of time off, unless GSR cannot grant the employee his vacation during the calendar year.

- 9.2 To be counted as a year of service, an employee must have been continuously employed for a period of twelve (12) consecutive months. Time off for union business, time off duty on account of an authorized layoff, bona fide illness, injury, and vacation days shall count as continuous service for the purposes of this Article. An employee with less than twelve (12) continuous months of service with GSR shall receive vacation pay in an amount equal to six percent (6%) of his total earnings. An employee who is hired pursuant to Article 14.1 and who has performed service in only a portion of a month and is laid off shall have that portion of the month counted as a full month of continuous employment for purposes of this Article.
- 9.3 Vacation requests must be submitted in writing to the General Manager between December 1 and December 15 of each year. GSR will respond by no later than January 15 of each year. Those employees with the greater amount of GSR service will have priority if duplicate requests for the same vacation times are received. When submitting requests, employees should include a sufficient number of choices in case of duplicate requests.
- 9.4 With the exception of floating vacation days, all vacations will commence on a Monday and continue as consecutive weeks), except for employees who have days off other than Saturday or Sunday in which circumstances their vacation would commence upon completion of the last day of work in their work week. Employees entitled to two (2) or more weeks of vacation may split their vacation into not less than one (1) week segments. Employees shall be allowed to take up to five (5) of his vacation days as floating vacation days during the year so long as GSR approves in advance of the day to be taken. At the discretion of the GSR the day or days may or may not be added to regularly scheduled vacations.
- 9.5 GSR reserves the right to grant or deny vacation request choices based on the needs of its operations. The maximum number of employees who may be on vacation at one time shall be limited to no more than ten percent (10%) of the number of employees in a classification. In its discretion, GSR may allow additional employees in a classification to be on vacation at the same time. Except in an emergency, once a vacation request is granted, the employee shall be allowed to take the assigned time. If the vacation must be rescheduled due to an emergency, the employee and GSR shall mutually agree to the rescheduled time. If the employee's vacation is rescheduled by GSR due to an emergency and the employee has prepaid for the vacation and cannot obtain a refund and/or cannot use the prepaid vacation at a later date, GSR shall reimburse the employee for out of pocket costs.
- 9.6 If any of the general holidays listed in Article 10.1 occur during an employee's vacation or rest day, the employee may either be given a day of holiday pay in addition to his vacation pay or an additional day off at the end of his vacation and the holiday pay at his choice. The employee must notify GSR in advance of taking his vacation of which option he will choose.
- 9.7 If an employee ceases to be employed, GSR shall pay to the employee any vacation pay

then owing by GSR to the employee. In these circumstances vacation pay shall be calculated at the rate of two percent (2%) per week of vacation to which the employee's service entitles him, multiplied by the regular wages of the employee for the period of service for which the employee has not already received vacation. Any accrued vacation pay in a year shall be paid to the estate of an employee who dies while in the employ of GSR.

#### ARTICLE 10 GENERAL HOLIDAYS

- 10.1 GSR recognizes the following days as paid holidays as General Holidays: New Year's Day, Family Day (as designated by the Saskatchewan and Alberta Government), Labour Day, Good Friday, Victoria Day, Canada Day, Thanksgiving Day, Remembrance Day, Christmas Day, Civic Holiday, and Boxing Day.
- 10.2 In addition to the General Holidays, each employee shall be entitled to two (2) floating holidays per year upon completion of one (1) calendar year of employment with GSR. Floating holidays will be scheduled when mutually agreed upon between the employee and GSR, taking into account operational considerations. The floating holiday is without compensation, but will not reduce the full two week pay period guarantee as per Article 20.1.
- 10.3 An employee or Vacancy Relief Personnel person working a vacancy under the terms of Article 15.1 or 15.4 who is not required to work on a General Holiday shall be paid at the equivalent of the wages he would have earned at his regular rate of wages for his normal hours of work pursuant to the provisions of Part III, Section 201.(1) of the Canada Labour Code. An employee or Vacancy Relief Personnel entitled to wages for at least 12 tours of duty during the 30 calendar days immediately preceding the General Holiday shall also be entitled to payment for the General Holiday. When a General Holiday falls on an employee's rest day, such holiday will either be moved to the normal working day immediately following the employee's rest day or to such other time the employee and GSR agree.
- 10.4 GSR will give an employee three (3) day's notice if it requires an employee to work on a General Holiday, except in an emergency. Anyone required to work on a General Holiday will be paid at one and one-half (1½) times his regular rate of wages for the time worked on that day in addition to his regular rate of wages for that day pursuant to the provisions of Part III, Section 201.(1) of the Canada Labour Code.
- 10.5 All extra work on a General Holiday will be offered to available, regularly assigned employees on a seniority basis. If no such employee is available for the extra work or if an insufficient number is available for the extra work, GSR may offer Vacancy Relief Personnel such extra work.

### ARTICLE 11 BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

11.1 Bereavement leave is designed to allow an employee time off when a death occurs in the immediate family. An employee will be given a leave of five (5) working days with pay

calculated at his regular rate of wages for his regular tour of duty for bereavement in the event of the death of his spouse, parents, child, parents-in-law or siblings, three (3) working days with pay calculated at his regular rate of wages for his regular tour of duty for bereavement in the event of the death of any other immediate family member as defined in Article 11.2 and one (1) day with pay calculated at his regular rate of wages for his regular tour of duty in order to attend the funeral or memorial service of a fellow employee. A leave for bereavement shall not be deemed to have interrupted continuity of employment.

- 11.2 An employee's immediate family is defined as the employee's spouse (as defined in Section 33 of the Canada Industrial Relations Regulations), child, grandchild, parent, grandparent, parent-in-law, step-parent, step-child, step-brother, step-sister, and the employee's siblings and any relative of the employee who resides permanently in the employee's household or with whom the employee permanently resides.
- 11.3 If the employee wishes to have GSR grant an exception to this policy, he must present his request to the General Manager of GSR for consideration. The General Manager may grant an exception in his sole discretion. No pay will be granted to an employee for this purpose that is already on leave of absence or layoff. Time paid for bereavement shall not be included in the computation of overtime.
- 11.4 If an employee is bereaved while on vacation, bereavement leave days shall not be included as part of the vacation period. The vacation days not taken shall be rescheduled through mutual agreement between GSR and the employee.

## ARTICLE 12 JURY DUTY AND ATTENDING COURT

- 12.1 An employee who is summoned or who serves on jury duty and is required to lose time from his assignment shall be paid the difference between the amount paid by the court for such jury service and the amount of his regular base rate of wages for his regular tour of duty he would have otherwise worked, not including, however, reimbursement from the Court for meals, lodging or transportation. No pay shall be granted if the employee is on leave of absence, layoff, vacation or holiday. However, an employee's annual vacation will, if the employee so requests, be rescheduled to a time mutually agreeable to GSR and the employee if it falls during a period of jury duty. Hours paid under this provision shall not be considered as time worked when computing overtime.
- 12.2 An employee must furnish GSR with a statement from the court of the jury allowance paid by the court and the days on which jury duty was performed.
- 12.3 When attending court as a witness for GSR or a medical examinees inquest in cases where GSR is involved or he is subpoenaed by the Crown or government agencies in cases where GSR is involved, an employee shall receive pay for all time lost at his regular base rate of wages of one and one-half (1½) times the employee's regular rate of wages after eight hours or, if the appearance falls on a rest day, he shall be paid a basic day and one and one-half (1½) times the employee's regular rate of wages after eight hours. This Article does not apply if the

employee is under criminal investigation or is party to a civil suit unless GSR and the Union agree to provide it. GSR shall be entitled to a certificate for witness fees in all cases.

### ARTICLE 13 DISCIPLINE PROCEDURES

- 13.1 Subject to the rights granted in Article 3 and Article 6.3 of this Agreement, GSR shall not suspend or discharge an employee without just cause and without a fair and impartial hearing as set out in this Article. If an employee is in violation of a federal or provincial statute or regulation or is endangering the safety of himself, a fellow employee or the public, GSR may hold him out of service with pay pending a hearing.
- 13.2 GSR shall notify an employee in writing of the incident(s) for which suspension or discharge is or may be imposed. The notice shall summarize the nature of the incident(s), give the time, date, and place of the occurrence of the incident(s), set the time and date of the hearing, and inform the employee he has the right to Union representation and to bring witnesses.
- 13.3 The hearing will be scheduled within fifteen (15) days of the date of notice and shall be presided over by the General Manager of GSR or his designee. The parties shall not be represented by or utilize legal counsel at the hearing, GSR shall provide the employee and the Union a list of witnesses it intends to call at the hearing no less than forty-eight (48) hours in advance of the hearing. The employee shall also supply GSR with a list of witnesses he intends to call at the hearing forty-eight (48) hours in advance of the hearing. These time limitations may only be changed by mutual agreement between the Union and GSR.
- 13.4 The General Manager of GSR or his designee shall conduct the hearing in an informal manner and only he and the employee's Union representative may examine witnesses. A transcript of the hearing will be kept and it, as well as copies of all documents or audio or videotapes utilized in the hearing will be provided to the employee and his representative at their request.
- 13.5 GSR witnesses who attend a hearing shall be compensated for time lost and be reimbursed for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses. If the employee is held for more than eight (8) hours, he shall be paid one and one-half (1½) times the employee's regular rate of wages. Employees who are already receiving compensation for the day(s) served as a witness shall not be paid any additional compensation for testifying.
- 13.6 A decision will be rendered in no longer than twenty (20) days after the hearing. Such decision shall be in writing and served on the employee and the Union. This time limitation may be changed only by mutual agreement between the Union and GSR. Once a decision has been rendered, GSR may implement the decision.
- 13.7 If the Union disagrees with the decision rendered, it may appeal the decision to the Chief Executive Officer of the Great Sandhills Railway., within sixty (60) days of receipt of the decision. Such appeal must be in writing and must specify the grounds or reasons the decision

is incorrect or the level of discipline inappropriate. Failure to file an appeal by the due date shall render the decision final and not appealable. The General Manager shall have sixty (60) days from the date of receipt of the appeal to render a decision on the appeal. That decision must be in writing and served on the employee and the Union. The time limitations may be extended only by mutual agreement of GSR and the Union.

13.8 A grievance concerning the discipline imposed, which has been processed in the manner and through each of the steps outlined in this Article and still has not been settled or disposed of, may be referred by any of the signatories to this Agreement pursuant to the procedures set forth in Article 7.4.

### ARTICLE 14 DEDUCTION OF DUES

- 14.1 GSR shall, on the payroll for the pay period which contains the tenth (10th) day of each month, deduct from the wages of each bargaining unit full time employee within the scope of this Agreement an amount equal to the uniform monthly dues of the TCRC, or such other authorized amounts as directed by the Union, subject to the exceptions contained in this Article. GSR shall remit the total amounts deducted to each Union once a month accompanied by a report showing the amount deducted. GSR shall not be responsible, financially or otherwise, for any failure to make deductions or for making inaccurate or improper deductions or remittances.
- 14.2 GSR shall provide each new employee and each rehired employee a form letter outlining to the employee his responsibility regarding payment of union dues and initiation fees.
- 14.3 Employees filling positions of a confidential, supervisory or management nature and who are therefore not subject to any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be excepted from the deduction of dues, except that the employee may request that said deductions be continued in order to maintain seniority.
- 14.4 GSR will deduct from the payroll such amounts for dues that the Unions informs GSR are due for those Vacancy Relief Personnel who are paid for forty (40) hours or more in-a calendar month.

#### ARTICLE 15 POSTING

- 15.1 GSR shall internally post vacancies for positions when it is determined that a vacancy of forty-five (45) days or more exists. If an employee is on authorized leave during the entire period of the posting, he can exercise his seniority to claim the position no later than the completion of his first tour of duty upon his return from the authorized leave of absence.
- 15.2 When GSR determines that a job vacancy in the bargaining unit exists, GSR shall post notice of the vacancy for a period of five (5) days before the job is to be filled. The notice shall specify the nature of the job, the qualifications required, and the salary range for the position.

An employee who wishes to be considered for the position so posted shall signify his desire by making formal application to the supervisor specified in the notice within five (5) days of the date of the posting of the notice.

- 15.3 On other than a general holiday, extra work or temporary vacancies of five (5) days or less on regular assignments will be offered to Vacancy Relief Personnel.
- 15.4 On regular assignments with vacancies of more than five (5) but less than forty-five (45) days not claimed by a regularly assigned employee will be offered Vacancy Relief Personnel.

### ARTICLE 16 PAYDAY

- 16.1 All employees shall receive wages in accordance with Article 20 of this Agreement. Employees shall be paid bi-weekly.
- 16.2 Employees leaving the service of GSR shall be furnished with a payment covering all time due within seventy-two (72) hours or as soon thereafter as possible. The time specified shall be exclusive of Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays.
- 16.3 All overtime shall be shown as a separate item on the pay summary of employees.
- 16.4 Employees shall be paid by electronic funds transfer.
- 16.5 An employee who has been short paid may request GSR to issue a voucher to cover such shortage.

#### ARTICLE 17 OVERTIME

- 17.1 Overtime assigned by GSR shall be paid at the rate of one and one-half (1½) times the employee's regular rate of wages for each hour of work over eight (8) hours a day or in excess of forty (40) regular hours in each work week or in excess of the maximum hours of work permitted by the Minister. Any hours worked in excess of fourteen (14) in a single tour of duty shall be paid at the rate of double time.
- 17.2 Overtime will not be paid when exercising seniority from assignment to assignment or when an employee works a regularly scheduled relief assignment. There will be no pyramiding of overtime.
- 17.3 Employees called in from home to work overtime which is not in conjunction with their shift will be credited with an amount which is equivalent to at least three (3) hours of overtime work.

### ARTICLE 18 MEALS AND EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT

- 18.1 Employees shall be entitled to two (2) ten (10) minute paid breaks per regular shift and an additional paid meal time of thirty (30) minutes.
- 18.2 When an employee is required to work away from his headquarters point or is required to attend a company meeting, GSR shall either provide transportation or reimburse the employee for the necessary cost of transportation. If the employee is permitted by GSR to utilize his own automobile, GSR shall reimburse him at the rate of forty cents (\$.40) a kilometer for the kilometers traveled via the most direct highway route unless otherwise approved by GSR. GSR will review this rate on an annual basis.
- 18.3 GSR will provide each employee an allowance for safety boots pursuant to GSR's safety boot program.

#### ARTICLE 19 EMPLOYEE HEALTH AND PHYSICAL FITNESS

- 19.1 The nature of GSR's business and work generally requires that employees are physically fit, ready, and able to work. In addition, certain of the job functions at GSR require that the employee be capable of communicating both orally and in writing in a clear and concise manner. Appropriate and reasonable tests of health and fitness and other skills may be made from time to time by GSR and may be included in job descriptions. GSR may require job applicants to take and pass a physical examination prior to employment and, if applicable, take and pass such other examinations necessary to show that the applicant can perform the functions of the job. GSR may also require employees to take such periodic examinations as are allowed or required by law.
- 19.2 GSR will pay for medical and eye examinations it requires. GSR shall also pay the employee his regular rate of wages for the time he spends traveling to and from the place of the examination, the time spent in the examination, and, if GSR requires the employee to travel away from his home terminal for the examination, it will pay his reasonable costs of travel.
- 19.3 Any employee who is required by law to maintain a valid motor vehicle license and who receives a suspension of his motor vehicle operating license must immediately report the matter to an officer of GSR. GSR and the Union will use their best efforts to find another job for this employee at GSR during the term of the suspension of his license. An employee whose duties require him to have a motor vehicle operating license in good standing may receive a suspension from duty without pay, if no other job is found for this employee.

### ARTICLE 20 WORK SCHEDULING AND WAGES

20.1 All employees covered by this Agreement shall be paid on an hourly basis. Unless otherwise specified in a particular job description or as covered in Article 20.3, a basic day is

defined as eight (8) hours. Each regularly assigned employee shall be guaranteed a eighty (80) hours work for every two week pay period which shall, unless otherwise posted in an individual job bulletin, start on a Monday of each week. A combination of straight time and overtime will be used to calculate the forty (40) hours work week. Regular day shifts shall start at or between 0500 hours and 0800 hours. Notwithstanding the above, the starting time for an employee may be established or changed to meet the operational requirements of GSR by giving the employee forty-eight (48) hours notice of the change. Unless otherwise posted in an individual job bulletin or as covered by Article 20.3 below, the workweek shall be defined as a period beginning at 0001 hours of each Monday through 2359 hours of each Sunday.

- 20.2 Employees who absent themselves from their assignments for any reason during the work week shall have their pay adjusted in the next pay period by the actual number of hours below the standard hours in any week that they may be so absent.
- 20.3 Where possible and wherever the requirements of service permit, assignments will be bulletined to work consecutive days and to provide a minimum of two (2) consecutive rest days in a work week with a presumption that Saturday and Sunday are the preferred rest days if the requirement of service permit. Any change in the starting time of an assignment will be subject to an employee being given eight (8) hours rest between tours of duty unless the employee has booked for twelve (12) hours rest in and as a result misses the assignment in which case that employee will receive the earnings for that assignment. In the event an employee books off for rest after being advised of the change in an assignment, that employee would not be eligible for receipt of the earnings of that assignment. GSR will discuss the scheduling and implementation of assignments with the applicable Union. The parties recognize, however, the following: to meet the service needs and operating conditions of GSR, the employees' workweek may be bulletined with the scheduled rest days other than Saturday and Sunday.
- 20.4 Employees taken from their regular assignment to perform other duties shall be paid for all time actually worked at the base rate of pay for the position worked. If there is a wage rate differential, the higher rate shall apply.
- 20.5 The parties agree to establish a Voluntary Relief Personnel seniority list and calling procedure.
- 20.6 An employee who is absent for any authorized reason shall advise GSR at least two (2) hours in advance of his intention to return to work. An employee returning from vacation shall be required to report to duty for his regular assignment for his first regular shift following the expiration of his vacation.
- 20.7 The attached wage schedules are incorporated into this Agreement by this reference and are made a part of it.

### ARTICLE 21 GROUP HEALTH AND OTHER BENEFIT PLANS

- 21.1 GSR shall maintain a group health benefit plan (as described in Appendix B) for its employees. A booklet outlining the coverage may be obtained from GSR. Employees must first meet the qualifying criteria as described in the group plan and as implemented by the insurance carrier or provider, before they are eligible to receive benefits. This insurance is only effective as long as the employee is eligible for insurance and becomes and remains insured as provided in the group policy.
- 21.2 GSR shall maintain a pension plan (as described in Appendix A), an accidental death and disability, life, short-term disability, and long term disability insurance plan for its employees. A booklet outlining the coverage shall be provided by GSR to each employee and the Unions. Employees must meet the qualifying criteria as described in the group plan and as implemented by the insurance carrier or provider, before they are eligible to receive benefits. These benefits are only in effect as long as the employee is eligible for such coverage and becomes and remains covered as provided in the group policy.
- 21.3 GSR reserves the right to change insurance carriers, providers or policies. GSR will consult with the Unions concerning changing benefit levels and so long as those benefit levels remain the same or better, GSR may implement them. If any reductions to the benefit levels or the employer's pension contribution level are to be made, GSR will obtain the approval of the Unions, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.

## ARTICLE 22 REPORTING PAY AND CALLING PROCEDURE

- 22.1 When an employee is called and reports for duty and, for any reason other than his own, is not used, he shall be allowed pay for all time so held at the applicable rate of pay with a minimum of three (3) hours. If he is held longer than three (3) hours, he shall be allowed a days pay at his base rate of pay.
- 22.2 GSR shall not be required to call an employee who is in assigned service except to inform him if a train is delayed and to inform him of the new on duty time.

### ARTICLE 23 SAFETY AND HEALTH

- 23.1 GSR shall establish a Safety and Health Committee made up of at least one member from management and one member from each of the Unions.
- 23.2 The Safety Committee shall meet no less than quarterly and shall consult about and make recommendations to GSR concerning the furtherance of safety and health measures,

including but not limited to the reduction of ergonomic hazards in the work place, and conduct such other functions as required by the Canada Labour Code.

23.3 GSR shall furnish, for those employees requiring the appropriate safety gear, hard hats, safety vests, safety glasses, gloves, welders' protective clothing, and an allowance for safety boots to allow employees to purchase two (2) pairs of GSR approved safety boots per year. Employees failing to wear and use proper safety equipment for their position shall be subject to the Disciplinary Policy of GSR.

### ARTICLE 24 MATERIAL CHANGES

- 24.1 If GSR proposes a technological change that is likely to affect the terms and conditions or security of employment of a significant number of GSR's employees, it will provide the affected Union with notice of the technological change one hundred twenty (120) days prior to the date on which the technological change is to be effected. The notice shall state the nature of the technological change, the date on which GSR proposes to effect the technological change, the approximate number and type of employees likely to effected by the technological change, and the effect the technological change is likely to have on the terms and conditions or security of employment of the employees affected. After receipt of the notice of technological change from GSR, the affected Union may request a meeting with GSR to discuss the proposed technological change. If the Union requests such a meeting, GSR and the Union will set a date within a reasonable time to have the meeting.
- 24.2 For purposes of this Article, technological change means the introduction by GSR into its work, undertaking or business of equipment or material of a different nature or kind than previously used by GSR in the operation of the work, undertaking or business and a change in the manner in which GSR carries on the work, undertaking or business that is directly related to the introduction of that equipment or material.

#### ARTICLE 25 CREW CONSIST

All assignments shall have two (2) employees, namely, a conductor and a locomotive engineer. When GSR does utilize a two-person crew, it will pay the crewmembers the amount shown in Appendix A.

## ARTICLE 26 REST

Train service employees may book rest at the completion of their shift or tour of duty of an amount up to the starting time of their next shift or tour of duty but not past the starting time of their next shift or tour of duty. Train service employees who have been on duty twelve hours or more have the right to book rest in route. The parties will jointly develop a fatigue management plan.

### ARTICLE 27 TRAINING

- 27.1 GSR shall establish training and qualification programs for each classification after consulting with the Union. These programs are intended to assist an employee to gain better knowledge of his job and learn new skills.
- 27.2 Classroom instruction and on-the-job training ("OJT") for train and engine service employees will be performance based and will not be tied to any obligatory number of working tours of duty prior to being declared qualified. A GSR train and engine service employees undergoing additional OJT will be compensated.
- 27.3 Training programs for train and engine service employees for qualification standards for operating employees ("QSOC") will be developed in consultation with the General Chair(s) or their designees.
- 27.4 Within six (6) months of the implementation of a new training program for train and engine service employees, the Union and GSR may meet to review the course material to determine if changes are appropriate. The time period within which this review will be conducted may be adjusted as deemed appropriate by the Union and GSR.
- 27.5 Trainee conductors will work as additional crewmembers while seeking qualification as conductors but will not be considered as part of the crew for the purpose of payment according to Article 25. The duration of the training will be in accordance with Article 27.2. A conductor will receive an allowance of Ten Dollars (\$10) per tour of duty when required to train a trainee conductor.
- 27.6 Conductors training as locomotive engineers may receive their OJT while performing normal duties as a conductor. The duration of training will be in accordance with Article 27.2. The locomotive engineer will receive an allowance of Twenty Dollars (\$20) per tour of duty when required to train a trainee locomotive engineer.
- 27.7 An employee who applies or accepts training and then refuses to fulfill the requirements for qualifying for the position or withdraws his acceptance prior to meeting said qualifications will be returned to his former position and be restricted from making application for the same position for one (1) year. In situations where extenuating circumstances are involved, GSR and the General Chairman will review the employee's case.
- 27.8 An employee who is in apprenticeship training shall be paid a special training rate. If an employee is in any other type of training directed by GSR, he will be paid his regular rate of wages while traveling to and from training (pursuant to the mode of travel designated by GSR) and for the actual time spent in training and shall be reimbursed for his reasonable costs of travel.

### SIGNED AT CALGARY, ALBERTA, THIS 15<sup>TH</sup> DAY of April 2009

FOR GREAT SANDHILLS RAILWAY:

Perry Pellerin

CEO, Great Sandhills Railway

FOR THE TEAMSTERS

CANADA RAIL CONFERENCE

Dave Able

General Chairman, PCRC LE West

Dave Olson

General Chairman, TCRC CTY West

#### <u>APPENDIX A – HOURLY RATES OF PAY</u>

|           | 03/16/2009 | 01/01/2010 | 01/01/2011 | 01/01/2012 | 01/01/2013 |
|-----------|------------|------------|------------|------------|------------|
| Engineer  | \$34.72    | \$35.76    | \$36.83    | \$37.93    | \$39.07    |
| Conductor | \$33.44    | \$34.44    | \$35.47    | \$36.53    | \$37.63    |

Note: A person training as a conductor will be paid seventy-five percent (75%) of the above rate for conductor during the period of time he spends in training unless his rate of pay for his current position is greater than seventy-five percent (75%) than the training rate, in which case he will be paid the greater of the two. A person training as an engineer will be paid the conductor's rate of pay as set forth above.

The Great Sandhills Railway will establish a defined contribution pension plan for all employees covered by this agreement. This pension plan will be administered as a self directed RRSP through the Sandhills Credit Union in Leader Saskatchewan. The GSR will match any employee contributions to the plan up to three (3)% of their gross earnings for the first two years of operating. After two years of operating the GSR will match any employee contributions to the plan up to four (4)% of their earnings. After four years of operating the GSR will match any employee contributions to the plan up to five (5)% of their earnings.

### <u>APPENDIX B – GROUP HEALTH BENEFIT PLAN</u>

Benefit Plan of January 6, 2009 attached

# Sun Advantage<sup>TM</sup>

A group benefits proposal for

**Great Sandhills Railway** 

Presented by Jennie Lee-Chan



Thank you for considering Sun Life Assurance Company of Canada for your group benefits program.

This proposal is an outline of the type of coverage that you are currently considering and describes the price for each element of the coverage. We can provide you with more details on request. Standard benefit provisions and definitions will apply, unless specifically noted otherwise.

The prices are valid for 90 days from the date of this proposal.

#### Information provided to Sun Life Assurance Company of Canada

We have taken the information that was provided by yourself or the group benefits consultant about the employees to be covered under your group benefits program and based our proposal on these details. Should any information change we will reassess the quote. The information that was provided is as follows:

- · All employees are actively at work.
- · None of the dependents are currently hospitalized.
- . None of the employees or dependents to be insured has a known serious medical condition,
- . All employees are covered by WSIB/CSST except where noted otherwise in the Request for Quotation.

#### Eligibility

- To be eligible for coverage, employees must be permanent, actively at work, regularly scheduled to work at least 20 hours a week and live in Canada.
- . To be eligible for coverage, employees cannot be employed on a contract or seasonal basis,
- To qualify for Extended Health Care coverage, an employee must also be entitled to benefits under a provincial medicare plan or federal government plan that provides similar benefits.
- If your firm is a partnership or proprietorship, a proprietor or partner is considered an employee if that person is regularly working at least 20 hours per week for the firm.
- Dependent children who are not married or in any other formal union recognized by law ere eligible for coverage until the age 21 (age 25 if full-time student and entirely dependent on the employee for support).
- The employee's spouse by marriage or under any other formal union recognized by law, or a person of the opposite sex or
  of the same sex who is publicly represented as the employee's spouse, is eligible for coverage. Only one person at a time
  can be covered as the employee's spouse.
- Waiting period 3 months of continuous employment.
- In Québec, 100% participation is required for Extended Health Care and Dental while for other benefits, 100% participation is required for those who have not been declined for these benefits. For other provinces, total participation by benefit will meet our minimum requirement of 75%.
- Refusal of Extended Health Care and Dental is allowed when duplicate coverage exists under the spouse's plan. All other benefits are available as a package and cannot be individually selected.
- Basic earnings are the employee's salary from the employer not including any bonus, overtime or incentive pay with the
  exception of Short Term disability when these amounts are needed to conform with Employment Insurance regulations.
- For an employee compensated with commissions, basic earnings are the employee's average earnings from the employer over the past 2 years, including commissions. If employed less than 2 years, basic earnings are the employee's average earnings from the employer since the hire date, including commissions.
- . Fewer than 50% of the insured employees live in the same household.

#### Contribution

 The employer's contribution will be a minimum of 25% of the total cost of the plan for employers in Québec and 50% for employers in other provinces, **Employee Life** 

All Employees Amount of coverage

Coverage reduced Coverage ends

Conversion

Walver of premium

Exclusions

\$50,000

By 50 % at age 65

When employee retires or reaches age 70, whichever is earlier

Maximum - \$200,000

Automatic approval when LTD approved (by Sun Life);

Otherwise, any occupation and 6 month elimination period applies

Two-year suicide limitation on amounts over the NEM

**Accidental Death and Dismemberment** 

All Employees

Amount of coverage Additional coverage

Equal to Employee Life coverage

Dismemberment from 25% to 200% of insured amount depending on loss

Repatriation & Rehabilitation -- maximum -- \$10,000 each

Spouse Occupational Training, Child Education & Family Transportation

maximum - \$5,000 each

Conversion

Maximum – \$200,000, only available with Life conversion
Automatic approval when Employee Life walver of premium approved Waiver of premium Exclusions Accidents caused by self-inflicted injuries, drug overdose, carbon monoxide

inhalation, suicide, flying unless solely as a passenger, parachuting, criminal offences, civil commotions, riots, insurrections or through the

armed forces

Common accident \$3,000,000 aggregate liability from all AD&D losses on the plan

Dependent Life

All Employees Amount of coverage

Child coverage begins

Coverage ends Conversion

Waiver of premium

Spouse - \$5,000

Child - \$2,500

Spouse only

Automatic when Employee Life waiver of premium approved

**Short-Term Disability** 

All Employees

Amount of coverage

Payments begin

Payment basis

Definition of total disability Offsets - Direct

Recurrent disability Rehabilitation Maximum benefit period

Payment frequency Tax status Coverage ends Exclusions

From birth

When employee retires or reaches age 70, whichever is earlier

66,67% of weekly basic earnings

Maximum benefit - \$950

Accident - 1st day of total disability

Sickness - 8th day of uninterrupted total disability or the day the employee

is hospitalized, whichever is first

Calendar days - 1/7th

The employee's own occupation

Motor vehicle insurance, other group plans, salary continuance

All source maximum - 85 %

2 waeks

100% all source maximum

17 weeks

Weekly

Non texable benefit (100% of STD premium is employee paid) When employee retires or reaches age 70, whichever is earlier Self-inflicted injuries, attempted suicide, criminal offences, riots, insurrections, civil commotions, hostile actions of any armed forces, imprisonment or if benefits are payable under any Worker's Compensation

Act or similar legislation

Long-Term Disability

All Employees Amount of coverage

66.67% of monthly basic earnings Maximum benefit - \$5,000

Payments begin Maximum benefit period After a 4 month elimination period of total disability

Up to age 66

482949

#### Dental

All Employees Benefit year equals Plan design

Policy year Multident Plus

Recall frequency - 6 months Composite white fillings - All teeth Periodontal scaling - 10 units Fluoride - All insureds

Individual - \$50

Reimbursement level Preventive procedures Family - \$100

Basic procedures

Major procedures

Deductible per benefit year

80 % ~ Exams, x-rays, lab tests, cleanings, scaling, fluoride, disking (under age 19), oral hygiene instruction and space maintainers 80 % - Fillings, extractions, pit and fissure sealants (under age 19), root

canals, local anaesthesia, gum surgery and repairs, relining and rebasing of dentures 80 % - Crowns, veneers, fixed bridges, dentures, inlays, onlays and gold

foll restorations Missing tooth limitation - applies

Benefit year maximum Lifetime maximum Fee quide

Preventive, Basic and Major procedures - \$2,500 per person

TMJ - \$1,000 per person

The current fee guide for general practitioners in the employee's province of residence

Adjudication basis Coverage ends

Least expensive alternative procedure

When employee retires or reaches age 70, whichever is earlier

#### All benefits

| Non-evidence maximums (NEM) | Employees  | Life      | LTD     |
|-----------------------------|------------|-----------|---------|
|                             | 3 or 4     | \$50,000  | \$1,250 |
|                             | , 5 to 9   | \$100,000 | \$2,000 |
|                             | 10 to 14   | \$125,000 | \$2,500 |
|                             | 15 to 19   | \$150,000 | \$3,000 |
|                             | 20 to 24   | \$150,000 | \$3,500 |
|                             | 25 to 34   | \$175,000 | \$4,000 |
|                             | 35 to 49   | \$200,000 | \$4,500 |
|                             | 50 or more | \$225,000 | \$5,000 |

Groups with existing insurance may be eligible for coverage above our stated non-evidence maximums without providing proof of good health (grandfathering). Verification of this should be obtained prior to finalizing the sale.

Grandfathering

in the event that coverage is to be grandfathered under Life or LTD. verification of current coverage will be required for amounts over our stated non-evidence maximums

Grandfathering maximums for aligible groups

| Employees  | Life             | Life       | Long-Term  |
|------------|------------------|------------|------------|
|            | Under 65         | 65 – 69    | Disability |
| 3 or 4     | \$300,000        | \$100,000  | \$5,000    |
| 5 to 9     | \$300,000        | \$150,000  | \$5,000    |
| 10 to 19   | \$300,000        | \$200,000  | \$6,000    |
| 20 or more | \$500,000        | \$250,000* | \$7,500    |
|            | *\$50,000 at age | s 70 to 74 |            |

Proof of good health (all benefits)

Employees who maet one or more of the following criteria will require health evidence to add benefits or to obtain higher levels of Life and LTD coverage (under the applicable NEMs):

| Benefit                             | Volume    | Rate            | Monthly premium |
|-------------------------------------|-----------|-----------------|-----------------|
| Employee Life                       | \$300,000 | \$0.30/\$1,000  | \$90.00         |
| Accidental Death &<br>Dismemberment | \$300,000 | \$0.05/\$1,000  | \$15.00         |
| Dependent Life                      | 5         | \$1.64/fam ly   | \$8,20          |
| Short-Term Disability               | \$4,245   | \$0.48/\$10     | \$203.76        |
| Long-Term Disability                | \$19,279  | \$1,499/\$100   | \$288.99        |
| Extended Health Care                | 1         | \$61.15/single  | \$61.15         |
|                                     | 5         | \$145.57/family | \$727.85        |
| Dental Care                         | 1         | \$31.10/single  | \$31.10         |
|                                     | 5         | \$68.41/family  | \$342.05        |
| Total                               |           |                 | \$1,768.10      |

The provincial sales tax, if applicable, is not included in the quoted rates.

Note: Premium payments by pre-authorized chaque (PAC) are mandatory and the quoted rates reflect this method.

If the client elects our new online plan sponsor services program, a discount of 2% can be applied to any one of the above benefits' rate(s). For more information on this program please refer to the section titled "Plan Sponsor Services Online" on the second page of this proposal or contact your Sun Life Financial Account Executive.

Commissions included in the above rates: Standard SunAdvantage scale

### . Employee data

| Employee Occup | ation Group | Cover | Sex | DOB<br>(dd/mm/yyyy) | Annual<br>Balary |
|----------------|-------------|-------|-----|---------------------|------------------|
| . TH           | A           | 8     | F   | 01/07/1968          | 35,000           |
| . <b>J</b> S   | Α           | F     | M   | 01/07/1980          | 70,000           |
| . MP           | Α           | F     | M   | 01/07/1968          | 62,000           |
| Ws             | Α           | F     | M   | 01/07/1963          | 45,000           |
| , DR           | A           | F     | M   | 01/07/1953          | 45,000           |
| . <b>PS</b>    | Α           | F     | M   | 01/07/1960          | 90,000           |
|                |             |       |     |                     |                  |

# Benefit Comparisons Prepared for

|   | <del></del>   |               |                                       |                     |                        |
|---|---------------|---------------|---------------------------------------|---------------------|------------------------|
| Benefit   | Ì             |               |                                       | Chai Sahihiis Rajiy |                        |
| Employee Life Insurance:                        |               | 199900        | \$50,000                              | is Grewan           | 经保护证据 自由的 [1]          |
| Termination Age:                                |               |               | 50% @65, T 70                         | \$50,000            | \$50,000               |
| Walver of Premium                               |               | 1 1           | seme as LTC                           |                     |                        |
| Non-evidence maximum                            |               |               |                                       | 40110 00 616        | same as LT             |
| Overall maximum:                                |               |               | \$100,000<br>\$50,000                 | 7,                  | \$50,00                |
|   | <del></del> - | <del></del>   | 490,000                               | \$50,000            | \$50,00                |
| Dependent Group Life:                           |               |               | /manda(av.)                           |                     |                        |
| Spouse  | 1             | 1 1           | (mandatory)                           |                     |                        |
| Each Child                                      |               | 1             | \$5,000<br>\$2,500                    |                     |                        |
|   |               |               | \$2,500                               | <u>'L.,</u>         | <u> </u>               |
| Accidental Death & Dismemberment:               | <b></b>       | <u> </u>      | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | T                   | <del></del>            |
| Equal to Life Coverage?                         |               |               | Yes                                   |                     |                        |
| Loss of use                                     |               |               | 163                                   | Yes                 | Ye Ye                  |
|   |               |               |                                       | <u> </u>            | <u> </u>               |
| Long Term Disability:                           |               | <del></del> - |                                       |                     |                        |
| Elimination Period                              |               | j [           | 66.67%                                | 00.01 %             |                        |
| Paid %  |               |               | 120 days                              | 120 days            | 120 day                |
| Benefit Period                                  |               |               | <b>-</b>                              |                     | 1                      |
| Non-evidence maximum                            |               |               | To age 65                             |                     |                        |
| Overali maximum                                 |               | <u> </u>      | 2,000                                 | , .,                | 2.00                   |
| COLA  | 1 1           |               | 5,000                                 | 5,000               | 5,00                   |
| Own Occupation                                  |               |               | _                                     |                     | CPI or 3% (lesser of   |
| Any Occupation                                  | 1             | 1             | 2 years                               | - 10010             | 2 yea                  |
|   |               |               | After 2 years                         | After 2 years       | After 2 yea            |
| xtended Health:                                 |               |               |                                       |                     |                        |
| Deductible Page 1997                            | 1             |               | D. 6561 W                             |                     |                        |
| Reimbursement                                   |               |               | S: \$50/ F: \$50                      | S: \$50/ F: \$50    | S: \$50/ F; \$5        |
| Hospital (Semi- Private)                        |               | ĺ             | Drug Card                             | Drug Card           | Drug Car               |
| Private Duty Nurse (\$25,000/3 year)            | 1 1           | ·             | 100%                                  | 100%                | 100                    |
|   |               |               | 80%                                   | 80%                 | 80'                    |
| Out of Country (incl Travel Assistance)         | 1 1           |               | \$25,000/3 years                      | \$5,000/year        | •[                     |
| /ision Care (\$200/2 years (18+))               |               | 1             | 100%                                  | 100%                | 100                    |
| \$200/year for under age 18)                    |               | l             | 100%                                  | 100%                | 100                    |
| Orugs   |               | ]             |                                       |                     |                        |
| _   | 1             | ŀ             | 100%                                  | 100%                | 1004                   |
| Paramedical Practictioners (\$300 separate max) | ] ]           |               | Pian 64                               | Plan 81             |                        |
| Type Topal Co Track                             |               |               | 80%                                   | 80%                 | 208                    |
| Dental Care:                                    | 1             |               |                                       |                     |                        |
| Deductible                                      | i i           |               | O. PCN F. ALCO                        |                     | ,                      |
| Reimbursement                                   | 1 1           | l             | S: \$50/ F: \$100                     | S: \$50/ F: \$100   | S: \$50/ F; \$10       |
| <u>łasic</u> (minor)                            | 1             |               |                                       |                     | ·                      |
| Diagnostic (6 mo recall, composite fillings)    | i l           | 1             |                                       |                     |                        |
| reventitive                                     |               |               | 80%                                   | 80%                 | BOS                    |
|   | 1 1           | Ī             | 80%                                   | 80%                 | 809                    |
| Indodontics                                     | 1 1           |               | 10 scaling units                      | 10 scaling units    |                        |
| Periodontics                                    |               | [             | 50%                                   | 80%                 |                        |
| faximum   |               | l             | 80%                                   | 80%                 | i an                   |
| <u>lestorative</u> (major)                      |               | ł             | \$2500 combined                       | \$2500 combined     | \$2500 combine         |
| rowns   |               | l             | _                                     |                     |                        |
| tridges   |               |               | 80%                                   | 80%                 | 809                    |
| entures   |               |               | B0%                                   | 80%                 | 809                    |
| rthadontics (\$2500 per person)                 |               | 1             | 80%                                   | 80%                 | P/LS                   |
| . Postociii                                     | <u> </u>      |               | Not avail. Min 10                     | Not avail. min 10   | Not avail, Min 5 famil |
| enefit Costs                                    | <del></del>   |               |                                       |                     |                        |
| mployee Life insurance                          | Lives V       | /olumo        |                                       |                     |                        |
|   | _             | 100000        |                                       |                     | <u></u>                |
|   | 6 3           | 100000        | 0.30                                  | 0.42                | 0.26                   |
|   |               |               |                                       |                     | 3,20                   |

| Total  |             |         | \$90.00   | \$126.00   | <b>\$79.</b> 50   |
|--|-------------|---------|---|--|---|
| Dependent Group Life   | <del></del> |         |   |  | 919,00  |
| ·  | 5           |         | (mandatory)   |  |   |
| Total  | [           |         | 1.64<br>\$8.20  | \$0.00   |   |
| Accidental Death & Dismemberment   |             |         | <u></u>   | \$0.00   | \$0.0   |
| Addition Death & Dismemberment   |             |         |   |  | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·                                       |
| Total  | 6           | 300000  | 0.05  | 0.07   | 0.04  |
| •  |             | <u></u> | \$15,00   | \$21.00  | \$12.6  |
| <del></del>  |             |         |   |  |   |
| Long Term Disability   |             | 1       |   |  | <del></del>   |
| Total  | 6           | 19279   | 1,499   | 1.6  | 1.31  |
| TO(al  |             |         | \$288.99  | \$308.46   | \$253.1   |
| Health Care  |             |         |   |  | 4000.1  |
| Single   | 1           |         | 94.45   |  |   |
| Family   | 5           |         | 61.15<br>145.57   | 66.22  | 71.4  |
| Total  |             |         | \$789.00  | 156.66<br>\$849.52   | 145.5   |
| Dental Care  |             |         |   | Ψ048.32  | \$799.0   |
| Single   |             |         |   |  |   |
| Family   | 1<br>5      | 1 1     | 31.10   | 29.15  | 28.7  |
| Total  | ا           |         | 68.41   | 67.24  | 69.0  |
|  |             |         | \$373.15  | \$365.35   | \$373.8   |
| OPTIONAL BENEFITS Weekly Indomnity: (OPTIONAL BENEFIT)   |             |         | <u> </u>  |  |   |
| Allangiusive notatis and a service of the control o |             |         | WARRANTEE FRANCES   |  | <del> </del>  |
| OPTIONAL BENEFITS<br>Weekly Indomnity: (OPTIONAL BENEFIT)<br>Start: Accident   |             |         |   | \$\$\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\   | <u> </u>  |
| OPTIONAL BENEFITS Weekly Indomnity: (OPTIONAL BENEFIT) Start: Accident Sickness  |             |         | 1   | 1  | <u> </u>  |
| OPTIONAL BENEFITS<br>Weekly Indomnity: (OPTIONAL BENEFIT)<br>Start: Accident<br>Sickness<br>Pold For   |             |         |   | 1<br>8   |   |
| OPTIONAL BENEFITS Weekly Indomnity: (OPTIONAL BENEFIT) Start: Accident Sickness Peld For Paid at %   |             |         | 1 8   | 1<br>8<br>17 weeks<br>66,67%   | 17 week   |
| OPTIONAL BENEFITS<br>Weekly Indomnity: (OPTIONAL BENEFIT)<br>Start: Accident<br>Sickness<br>Pold For   |             |         | 1<br>8<br>17 weeks<br>66.67%  | 1<br>8<br>17 weeks<br>66,67%<br>\$500  | 17 week   |
| OPTIONAL BENEFITS Weekly Indomnity: (OPTIONAL BENEFIT) Start: Accident Sickness Pald For Pald at % Non-evidence maximum Overall Maximum  |             |         | 1<br>8<br>17 weeks  | 1<br>8<br>17 weeks<br>66,67%   | 17 week<br>66.67%   |
| OPTIONAL BENEFITS Weekly Indomnity: (OPTIONAL BENEFIT) Start: Accident Sickness Peld For Paid at % Non-evidence maximum  |             |         | 1<br>8<br>17 weeks<br>66.67%  | 1<br>8<br>17 weeks<br>66,67%<br>\$500  | 17 week<br>66.67%   |
| OPTIONAL BENEFITS Weekly Intlemnity: (OPTIONAL BENEFIT) Start: Accident Sickness Pald For Pald at % Non-evidence maximum Overall Maximum Short Term Disability   |             | 4245    | 1<br>8<br>17 weeks<br>66.67%<br>\$950   | 1<br>8<br>17 weeks<br>66,67%<br>\$500<br>\$1,154   | 17 week<br>66.67%<br>\$1,000  |
| DPTIONAL BENEFITS Weekly Intlemnity: (OPTIONAL BENEFIT) Start: Accident Sickness Pald For Pald at % Non-evidence maximum Overall Maximum Short Term Disability   |             |         | 1<br>8<br>17 weeks<br>66.67%  | 1<br>8<br>17 weeks<br>66.67%<br>\$500<br>\$1.154   | 17 week<br>66.67%<br>\$1,000  |
| OPTIONAL BENEFITS Weekly Indomnity: (OPTIONAL BENEFIT) Start: Accident Sickness Pald For Paid at % Non-evidence maximum Overall Maximum Short Term Disability  Total  Critical Illness   |             |         | 1<br>8<br>17 weeks<br>66.67%<br>\$950<br>0.48<br>\$203.76   | 1<br>8<br>17 weeks<br>66.67%<br>\$500<br>\$1,154<br>0.49<br>\$208.01                                     | 17 week<br>66.67%<br>\$1,000<br>0.47*<br>\$199.9                            |
| OPTIONAL BENEFITS Weekly Indomnity: (OPTIONAL BENEFIT) Start: Accident Sickness Pald For Paid at % Non-evidence maximum Overall Maximum Short Term Disability  Total  Critical Illness Number of Ilnesses  |             |         | 1 8 17 weeks 66.67% \$950 0.48 \$203.76   | 1 8<br>17 weeks<br>66.67%<br>\$500<br>\$1,154<br>0.49<br>\$208.01  | 17 week<br>66.67%<br>\$1,000<br>0.47*<br>\$199.9                            |
| OPTIONAL BENEFITS Weekly Indomnity: (OPTIONAL BENEFIT) Start: Accident Sickness Paid For Paid at % Non-evidence maximum Overall Maximum Short Term Disability  Fotal Critical Illness Jumber of Inesses Fermination Age:   |             |         | 1 8<br>17 weeks<br>66.67%<br>\$950<br>0.48<br>\$203.76<br>Flat \$25,000<br>19 Illnesses             | 1 8<br>17 weeks<br>66.67%<br>\$500<br>\$1.154<br>0.49<br>\$208.01<br>Flat \$10,000<br>22 illnesses       | 17 week<br>66.67%<br>\$1,000<br>0.47<br>\$199.96                            |
| OPTIONAL BENEFITS Weekly Indomnity: (OPTIONAL BENEFIT) Start: Accident Sickness Paid For Paid at % Non-evidence maximum Overall Maximum Short Term Disability Fotal Critical Illiness Number of Ilnesses Fermination Age: Vaiver of Premium  |             |         | 1 8 17 weeks 66.67% \$950 0.48 \$203.76   | 1 8<br>17 weeks<br>66.67%<br>\$500<br>\$1,154<br>0.49<br>\$208.01  | 17 week<br>66.67%<br>\$1,000<br>0.47<br>\$199.96                            |
| OPTIONAL BENEFITS Weekly Indemnity: (OPTIONAL BENEFIT) Start: Accident Sickness Paid For Paid at % Non-evidence maximum Overall Maximum Short Term Disability Fotal Critical Illness Number of Ilnesses Fermination Age: Vaiver of Premium Non-evidence maximum  |             |         | 1 8<br>17 weeks<br>66.67%<br>\$950<br>0.48<br>\$203.76<br>Flat \$25,000<br>19 lilnesses             | 1 8<br>17 weeks<br>66.67%<br>\$500<br>\$1.154<br>0.49<br>\$208.01<br>Flat \$10,000<br>22 illnesses       | 17 week: 66.67% \$1,000 0.47* \$199.94                                      |
| DPTIONAL BENEFITS Weekly Indemnity: (OPTIONAL BENEFIT) Start: Accident Sickness Pald For Paid at % Non-evidence maximum Diverall Maximum Short Term Disability Total Critical Illness Jumber of Ilnesses Jermination Age: Vaiver of Premium Jon-evidence maximum   |             |         | 1 8<br>17 weeks<br>66.67%<br>\$950<br>0.48<br>\$203.76<br>Flat \$25,000<br>19 Illnesses             | 1 8<br>17 weeks<br>66.67%<br>\$500<br>\$1.154<br>0.49<br>\$208.01<br>Flat \$10,000<br>22 illnesses       | 17 week: 66.67% \$1,000 0.47* \$199.94                                      |
| DPTIONAL BENEFITS Weekly Indemnity: (OPTIONAL BENEFIT) Start: Accident Sickness Paid For Paid at % Non-evidence maximum Overall Maximum Short Term Disability Total  Critical Illness Jumber of Ilnesses Jermination Age: Vaiver of Premium Jon-evidence maximum Jon-evidence maximum Jon-evidence maximum Jon-evidence maximum Jon-evidence maximum   |             |         | 1 8 17 weeks 66.67% \$950 \$950 \$25,000 \$25,000   | 1 8<br>17 weeks<br>66.67%<br>\$500<br>\$1,154<br>0.49<br>\$208.01<br>Flat \$10,000<br>22 illnesses<br>65 | 17 week<br>66.67%<br>\$1,000<br>0.47<br>\$199.96                            |
| Description Alexandry (OPTIONAL BENEFIT) Start: Accident Sickness Paid For Paid at % Non-evidence maximum Diveral Maximum Short Term Disability Total Critical Illness Jumber of Ilnesses Fermination Age: Valver of Premium Jon-evidence maximum Jon-evidence maximum Diverall maximum:   | 6           |         | 1 8 17 weeks 66.67% \$950 0.48 \$203.76 Flat \$25,000 19 lilnesses 65 \$25,000 per person per \$    | 1 8 17 weeks 66.67% \$500 \$1,154  0.49 \$208.01  Flat \$10,000 22 illnesses 65  \$10,000                | 17 weeks 66.67% \$1,000 0.47* \$199.94  Offered on individual basis only    |
| DPTIONAL BENEFITS Weekly Indemnity: (OPTIONAL BENEFIT) Start: Accident Sickness Paid For Paid at % Non-evidence maximum Dverall Maximum Short Term Disability Total Critical Illness Jumber of Inesses Jermination Age: Vaiver of Premium Jon-evidence maximum Jon-evidence maximum Joyerall maximum:  | 6           | 4245    | 1 8 17 weeks 66.67% \$950 \$950 \$25,000 \$25,000   | 1 8 17 weeks 66.67% \$500 \$1,154  0.49 \$208.01  Flat \$10,000 22 illnesses 65  \$10,000                | 17 week<br>66.67%<br>\$1,000<br>0.47<br>\$199.96                            |
| OPTIONAL BENEFITS Weekly Intlemnity: (OPTIONAL BENEFIT) Start: Accident Sickness Pald For Pald at % Non-evidence maximum Overall Maximum Short Term Disability  Total  Critical Illness Termination Age: Vaiver of Premium Jon-evidence maximum Overall maximum  Critical Illness Source of Premium Coverall maximum:  | 6           | 4245    | 1 8 17 weeks 66.67% \$950   | 1 8 17 weeks 66.67% \$500 \$1,154  0.49 \$208.01  Flat \$10,000 22 illnesses 65  \$10,000                | 17 weeks 66.67% \$1,000 0.47* \$199.9*  Offered on individual basis only    |
| OPTIONAL BENEFITS Weekly Intlemnity: (OPTIONAL BENEFIT) Start: Accident Sickness Pald For Pald at % Non-evidence maximum Overall Maximum Short Term Disability Fotal Critical Illness Number of linesses Fermination Age: Waiver of Premium Non-evidence maximum Overall maximum: Critical Illness   | 6           | 4245    | 1 8 17 weeks 66.67% \$950 0.48 \$203.76 Flat \$25,000 19 lilnesses 65 \$25,000 per person per \$9.1 | 1 8 17 weeks 66.67% \$500 \$1,154  0.49 \$208.01  Flat \$10,000 22 illnesses 65  \$10,000                | \$1,000<br>\$1,000<br>\$1,000<br>0.471<br>\$199.94<br>Offered on individual |